FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
8/16/2022 4:53 PM
No. 101179-2

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/17/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 55811-4 COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II

SAWYER FALLS CO., LLC, a Washington limited Liability company,

Respondent,

v.

CAPRI INVESTMENTS, L.L.C., a Washington limited liability company; RENAISSANCE UNITED LIMITED, a Singapore exchange listed entity; and any other individual/entity claiming any right, title, lien or other interest in the real property described herein,

Petitioners,

V.

WONG CHIN YONG; and LEONARD TEOH HOOI LEONG,

Third-Party Defendants.

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Capri Investments, L.L.C. ("Capri") respectfully submits this Petition for Review.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Capri respectfully requests review of *Sawyer Falls Co.*, *L.L.C. v. Capri Investments*, *L.L.C.*, No. 558811-4-II, Division II of the Court of Appeals decision issued on June 14, 2022. The Court of Appeals issued its decision as an Unpublished Opinion. Capri filed a timely Motion to Publish Opinion on July 5, 2022. RAP 12.3(e). The Court of Appeals denied that motion on July 19, 2022.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether ratification of an unauthorized act after the statute of limitations has run works to avoid the statute of limitations.

¹ The unpublished decision is available on commercial databases at 2022 WL 2125880 and 2022 Wash. App. LEXIS 1243.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2002, Capri purchased Falling Water—a residential development in Pierce County, Washington—from Sawyer Falls. CP 37, 177. Related to this purchase, Capri and Sawyer Falls executed a Promissory Note on July 22, 2002. CP 10–11. The Promissory Note contemplates two categories of payment: a "Fixed Amount" for approximately \$404,200; and an unknowable "Indeterminate Amount," with payment conditioned on the occurrence of certain events. CP 10–11.

Full payment on the Fixed Amount was due on July 22, 2014. CP 10. Full payment on the Indeterminate Amount—if any—was due "within fourteen (14) years following the date of this Note," i.e., July 22, 2016. CP 10–11.

A. After Eighteen Years Of Near Silence, Sawyer Falls Threatens Litigation On The Note.

Capri had almost no further contact with Sawyer Falls related to the Note for the 18 years following Capri's purchase of Falling Water. CP 178. Then, on July 16, 2020, counsel for Capri received an email from counsel purporting to represent

Sawyer Falls threatening to bring legal action on the Note. CP 108, 178. Sawyer Falls' Counsel proposed that the parties execute a Tolling Agreement so the parties could discuss alternatives to litigation and demanded an almost immediate response. CP 108.

Wanting to avoid litigation and under immense time pressure, Capri relied on Sawyer Falls' representations that the individual signing the Tolling Agreement—Mr. Wong Chin Yong ("Mr. Wong")—had authority to do so. CP 21, 104. Capri and Mr. Wong executed the Tolling Agreement effective July 17, 2020. CP 20–22. Mr. Wong signed the Tolling Agreement on behalf of Sawyer Falls, purportedly as its "Manager." CP 22. Capri reserved its defenses. CP 20.

B. Sawyer Falls Attempts To Change Its Management Structure.

Between 2002 and 2020, unbeknownst to Capri, Sawyer Falls attempted to make changes to its management structure.

The Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability

Company Agreement of Sawyer Falls Co., L.L.C. (the

"Operating Agreement"), effective February 25, 2002, provided for two Members of Sawyer Falls: Newton Centre Development Limited, a British Virgin Islands limited company ("Newton Centre") and Innopac Holdings Ltd., f/k/a Irmo-Pacific Holdings Ltd. (a formerly publicly traded company on the Singapore stock exchange) ("Innopac"). CP 112, 144; see CP 39, 178. The Operating Agreement required two Managers and gave Newton Centre "the exclusive right to appoint the Managers and to remove any of them from office at any time in Newton's sole discretion." CP 119 §§ 3.2, 3.3. The Operating Agreement designated Teoh Hooi Leong (also known as Leonard Teoh) and Thong Mee Yuen as Managers of Sawyer Falls. CP 119 § 3.3; CP 145.

Pursuant to the Operating Agreement, in making corporate decisions, the Managers must act "collectively through meetings and written consents," "through committees" designated by the Managers, and/or "through officers to whom authority and duties have been delegated." CP 119 § 3.5.1. Any action by written

consent must be signed by every Manager of Sawyer Falls (or by members of a designated committee). CP 120–21 § 3.7. Leonard Teoh signed the Operating Agreement on behalf of Newton Centre as its "Sole Director." CP 143.

In September 2020, Mr. Teoh admitted his role with Newton Centre had ended around 2013 or 2014,² when Mr. Lee Chai Huat assumed control. CP 178–79, 180–81. As of January 17, 2013, Mr. Lee Chai Huat was the substantial shareholder and director of Newton Centre. CP 178–79, 477–78. Mr. Lee Chai Huat declared bankruptcy on July 11, 2017 and died on August 18, 2017. CP 179, 479–84.³

_

² After Capri filed its Motion for Summary Judgment, Mr. Teoh submitted a declaration claiming that "from 2002 to July 2018 I was Newton's authorized representative with respect of [Sawyer Falls] at all material times." CP 808. Beyond this statement, there is no evidence substantiating this new claim.

³ Sawyer Falls submitted a purported "resignation letter" of Mr. Huat dated October 24, 2013, attached to the declaration of Mr. Wong. CP 1085. Mr. Wong provided no foundation for that document, nor did he attest to its authenticity. CP 1009–10.

Following Mr. Lee Chai Huat's bankruptcy, Newton Centre was struck off the BVI Register in November 2017. CP 474. It was not restored until February 2021. CP 1009, 1075.

On June 29, 2018—while Newton Centre was struck off the BVI Register—Mr. Wong, allegedly on behalf of Innopac, and Leonard Teoh, allegedly on behalf of Newton Centre, executed an Amendment of Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement and Appointment of Managers of Sawyer Falls Co., L.L.C. ("the Amendment" or the "2018 Amendment"). CP 149–50. This Amendment purports to remove all existing Managers of Sawyer Falls and appoint Mr. Wong and Philip Leng Yew Chee as new Managers. CP 149 § 3. The Amendment also provides Innopac with the exclusive right to appoint and remove Managers. CP 149 § 2.

The Amendment was not effective when signed because Newton Centre was struck from the BVI Register and thus could not take any corporate action as a matter of BVI law. See CP 171

(British Virgin Islands Business Companies Act of 2004 ("BVI Business Companies Act") § 215(1)(a)–(c)).

C. Relevant Procedural History.

On November 30, 2020, Sawyer Falls sued Capri. *See* Supp. CP 1743. Sawyer Falls filed the operative First Amended Complaint on December 3, 2020, suing Capri and its parent company, Renaissance United Limited f/k/a IPCO International Ltd. on the Note (collectively "Defendants"). *See* CP 1.

The Superior Court granted Defendants' motion for partial summary judgment and dismissed all of Sawyer Falls' claims on April 2, 2021. CP 1664–67. The court denied Sawyer Falls' motion for reconsideration. CP 1738. The Superior Court then certified the case for appeal pursuant to CR 54(b). CP 1771–77.

On appeal, Capri argued that Mr. Wong did not have authority to act on behalf of Sawyer Falls when he signed the Tolling Agreement. Newton Centre was struck off the BVI Register at the time it purported to appoint Mr. Wong as manager of Sawyer Falls via the 2018 Amendment. See CP 149–50, 474,

1075. While it was stricken, Newton Centre lacked *any* authority to act as a matter of law. See CP 171 (BVI Business Companies Act § 215(1)(a)–(c)). Newton Centre was not restored to the register until February 2021, three months after this case was filed and after the statute of limitations for claims on the Note would have expired absent the Tolling Agreement. CP 1075, 1743. While Newton Centre's restoration may have ratified the 2018 Amendment for general corporate purposes, because restoration occurred after the statute of limitations expired, its restoration did not ratify Mr. Wong's unauthorized signing of the Tolling Agreement. Under well-established precedent from courts around the country, including the U.S. Supreme Court, ratification of an unauthorized action after the statute of limitations has expired is not effective as to the rights of third parties like Capri. See, e.g., Respondents' Br. at 1–3, 15–31.

The Court of Appeals rejected this argument, reversing the Superior Court's opinion in part.⁴ Relevant here, the Court of Appeals concluded that under both Washington's Uniform Business Organizations Code and BVI law, "once Newton was reinstated, the reinstatement related back as if Newton was never dissolved. Thus, Wong's appointment as a manager of SFC was valid at the time it was entered. As a result, Wong had authority to enter into" the Tolling Agreement. Slip Op. at 8. Although the Court of Appeals criticized Respondents for "erroneously conflat[ing] the concepts of 'relating back' and ratification," id. at 9, the practical effect of the court's decision is to allow ratification—by reinstatement—of an action after the statute of limitations expired.

V. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals' decision answered issues of first impression in Washington in a way that conflicts with both well-

⁴ The Court of Appeals affirmed the Superior Court's dismissal of Renaissance United Limited. *See* Slip Op. at 13–17.

refusal to allow avoidance of the statute of limitations. The decision—which is the sole authority on the effect of ratification on the statute of limitations in Washington—has a wide reach, undermines the legislature's declaration of public policy, and is an issue of substantial public interest. The Court should grant review. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

A. The Court Of Appeals Decision Is Contrary To Nearly Universal Precedent From Courts Around The Country And Conflicts With This Court's Precedent Rejecting Attempts To Avoid The Statute Of Limitations.

To the best of Petitioner's Counsel's knowledge, the Court of Appeals decision is the first case in Washington to address the impact of corporate reinstatement on the statute of limitations. It is also, as far as Petitioner's Counsel are aware, the first case in Washington to address whether ratification of an action after the statute of limitations expires is effective, thus allowing avoidance of the limitations period.

This is not, however, the first time that any Court has addressed the question of whether ratification after the statute of limitations expires is effective. Courts around the country have addressed this question in a wide variety of contexts. Almost universally, the answer has been a resounding *no*—ratification after the statute of limitations expires is not effective as to third parties; thus, the limitations period cannot be avoided. The Court of Appeals' opposite conclusion conflicts with this precedent. See Fed. Election Comm'n v. NRA Political Victory Fund, 513 U.S. 88, 90, 98–99, 115 S. Ct. 537, 130 L. Ed. 2d 439 (1994); Virgin Islands Taxi Ass'n v. V.I. Port Auth., No. 08–142, 2015 WL 5535237, at *4–5 (D.V.I. Sept. 16, 2015), aff'd sub nom. Benjamin v. V.I. Port Auth., 684 F. App'x 207, 212 (3d Cir. 2017) (unpublished)⁵; In re W.R. Grace & Co., 366 B.R. 302, 306–07

⁵ Although, "by tradition" the Third Circuit Court of Appeals does not cite to non-precedential opinions, it is permissible to do so. *See* Internal Operating P. of the U.S. Ct. of App. for the Third Cir. 5.7; Fed R. App. P. 32.1(a) ("A court may not prohibit or restrict the citation of" unpublished federal decisions issued on or after January 1, 2007); GR 14.1(b) (party may cite

(Bankr. D. Del. 2007), aff'd sub nom. Mission Towers v. Grace, No. 07-287, 2007 WL 4333817, at *5–6 (D. Del. Dec. 6, 2007), aff'd sub nom. In re W.R. Grace & Co., 316 F. App'x 134, 136 (3d Cir. 2009) (unpublished); First Telebanc Corp. v. First Union Corp., No. 02-80715-CIV-GOLD/TURNOFF, 2007 WL 9702557, at *8–11 (S.D. Fla. Aug. 6, 2007); Town of Nasewaupee v. City of Sturgeon Bay, 251 N.W.2d 845, 848–49 (Wis. 1977); Miernicki v. Duluth Curling Club, 699 N.W.2d 787, 788–89 (Minn. Ct. App. 2005); Twp. of N. Fayette v. Guyaux, 992 A.2d 904, 906 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2010).

As these cases explain, while "[o]rdinarily, a subsequent ratification relates back to the time of the original transaction.... that rule is not applicable when the rights of others have intervened by the passage of time." *Town of Nasewaupee*, 251 N.W.2d at 848; *see also First Telebanc Corp.*,

unpublished decisions of other jurisdictions "if citation to that opinion is permitted under the law of the jurisdiction of the issuing court").

2007 WL 9702557, at *10. That is because "[t]he intervening rights of third persons cannot be defeated by the ratification. In other words, it is essential that the party ratifying should be able not merely to do the act ratified at the time the act was done, but also at the time the ratification was made." Fed. Election Comm'n, 513 U.S. at 98 (emphasis in original) (quoting Cook v. Tullis, 85 U.S. 332, 338, 21 L. Ed. 933 (1874)); see also Benjamin, 684 F. App'x at 212; Virgin Islands Taxi Ass'n, 2015 WL 5535237, at *4; Town of Nasewaupee, 251 N.W.2d at 848.

These cases rely on a fundamental principle of law: "If an act to be effective in creating a right against another or to deprive him of a right must be performed before a specific time, an affirmance is not effective against the other unless made before such time." Restatement (Second) of Agency § 90; see also Fed. Election Comm'n, 513 U.S. at 98; Virgin Islands Taxi Ass'n, 2015 WL 5535237, at *4; In re W.R. Grace & Co., 366 B.R. at 306; Town of Nasewaupee, 251 N.W.2d at 848; Miernicki, 699 N.W.2d at 789; Twp. of. N. Fayette, 992 A.2d at 906. "The

bringing of an action, or of an appeal, by a purported agent can not be ratified after the cause of action or right to appeal has been terminated by lapse of time." Restatement (Second) of Agency § 90 cmt. a; see also Town of Nasewaupee, 251 N.W.2d at 848; In re W.R. Grace & Co., 366 B.R. at 306. "Thus, ratification attempted after the statute of limitations has run on a cause of action is ineffective." First Telebanc Corp., 2007 WL 9702557, at *10; see also, e.g., Fed. Election Comm'n, 513 U.S. at 99 ("after-the-fact' authorization does not relate back" to "unauthorized filing so as to make it timely"); Virgin Islands Taxi Ass'n, 2015 WL 5535237, at *5 ("Because the statute of limitations has expired on all claims, ratification comes too late and is ineffective to authorize this suit."); In re W.R. Grace & Co. 366 B.R. at 307 (because claimants "would not be permitted to file proofs of claims after the bar date," they therefore "held no ability to ratify [the law firm's] act when the ratification was made" after the bar date); Miernicki, 699 N.W.2d at 789 ("Because appellants' ratification of the action filed in their name

occurred after the statute of limitations had expired, the filing was ineffective against [Duluth Curling Club].").

The Court of Appeals rejected this well-established precedent, disregarding the basic premise that ratification and relation back *are* interrelated. Indeed, the fundamental question in these cases is whether ratification should relate back such that it would avoid the statute of limitations. Compare Slip Op. at 9 (stating "Respondents erroneously conflate the concepts of 'relating back' and ratification'), with, e.g., Fed. Election Comm'n, 513 U.S. at 98 (determining whether "after-the-fact' authorization relates back to the date of the FEC's unauthorized filing so as to make it timely" (emphasis added)); Town of Nasewaupee, 251 N.W.2d at 848 (explaining when "ratification" relates back to the time of the original transaction" (emphasis added)). Contrary to the great weight of authority, the Court of Appeals concluded that ratification of an unauthorized action does relate back to the original action, even when doing so interferes with the right of third parties to be free from suit.

Contra, e.g., Town of Nasewaupee, 251 N.W.2d at 848–49. It effectively held that a party need not ratify an action before the statute of limitations runs. Contra, e.g., Restatement (Second) of Agency § 90 cmt. a; Fed Election Comm'n, 513 U.S. at 98; First Telebanc Corp., 2007 WL 9702557, at *10. In other words, a party need not have the ability to do the act ratified at the time of ratification. Contra, e.g., Fed. Election Comm'n, 513 U.S. at 98. A party can therefore avoid the statute of limitations by ratifying an unauthorized act after the limitations period has run.

The Court of Appeals' decision not only contradicts well-established precedent from other jurisdictions, but also runs afoul of this Court's recognition that "as a matter of basic justice" courts "have a cogent reason to give limitation statutes a literal and rigid reading, and to declare that the right to sue begins with the wrongful acts and ends with the statutory period." *Ruth v. Dight*, 75 Wn.2d 660, 665, 453 P.2d 631 (1969), *superseded by statute*, RCW 4.16.350, *as recognized by Winbun v. Moore*, 143 Wn.2d 206, 214 n.3, 18 P.3d 576 (2001). In line with this

principle, this Court regularly refuses to allow parties to avoid the statute of limitations. See Cost Mgmt. Servs., Inc. v. City of Lakewood, 178 Wn.2d 635, 651, 310 P.3d 804 (2013) (explaining "[t]he statute of limitations is 'a legislative declaration of public policy which the courts can do no less than respect," and holding the administrative process could not be used "to provide a way around the statute of limitations" (quoting J.M. Arthur & Co. v. Burke, 83 Wash. 690, 693, 145 P. 974 (1915))); Atchison v. Great W. Malting Co., 161 Wn.2d 372, 382, 166 P.3d 662 (2007) (holding the statute of limitations for wrongful death does not toll whenever an appointed personal representative was a minor when the action accrued, explaining that holding otherwise "would allow clever litigants to sidestep the statute of limitations by choosing a personal representative who happened to be a minor when the action accrued"); Allen v. State, 118 Wn.2d 753, 759, 826 P.2d 200 (1992) (holding "[a]lthough certainly understandable, [a grieving widow's]

difficulties in dealing with her husband's death do not excuse her failure to exercise due diligence").

The Court of Appeals' sharp departure from well-established precedent of other jurisdictions and this Court's guidance on prohibiting avoidance of the statute of limitations warrants review. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

- B. This Case Involves An Issue Of Substantial Public Interest That Should Be Determined By The Supreme Court.
 - 1. This case addresses issues of first impression in Washington.

As noted above, this case addresses two issues of first impression in Washington: First, whether reinstatement of a corporation ratifies all actions taken against third parties, even after the statute of limitations has run. Second whether ratification of an action avoids the statute of limitations.

As to the first issue, the Court of Appeals essentially accepted Appellant's proposition that if a stricken corporation were the proverbial Humpty Dumpty, regardless of what occurs while it is stricken, reinstatement makes it as if Humpty never

fell in the first place. See Reply Br. of Appellant at 9. The Court of Appeals held this was so even if Humpty happened to injure bystanders in the process. See Slip Op. at 6–9. According to the Court of Appeals' decision, those bystanders have no recourse because reinstatement magically erased the fact of the fall—despite that the bystanders are left with injuries as a result of it.

Petitioner does not disagree that reinstatement generally relates back when dealing with a corporation's *internal* affairs. But if Humpty Dumpty harms someone in his fall, the law does not allow him to pretend that the fall never occurred; it does not leave those third parties without recourse. Yet that is what the Court of Appeals ruled. In doing so, the Court of Appeals answered the second question—whether ratification after the statute of limitations is effective—in the affirmative, contrary to decisions of courts around the country.

Although the Court of Appeals decision is unpublished, it may still be cited and accorded persuasive value. See GR 14.1(a).

As it is the only Washington case that addresses whether

ratification (or reinstatement) can avoid the statute of limitations, it is likely that future litigants will cite it, and future courts will give it more weight than if there were a multitude—or *any*—other Washington cases addressing this topic. The Court should accept review to issue a definitive ruling on these issues of first impression. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(4).

2. The Court of Appeals decision has broad implications as ratification arises in a wide variety of contexts.

While this case specifically addressed ratification in the context of restoration/reinstatement of a stricken corporation, the Court of Appeals decision is not so limited. As discussed above, the practical effect of the court's decision is to allow ratification (here, by reinstatement) of an action after the statute of limitations expired, thereby avoiding the statute of limitations.

Ratification arises in a wide variety of contexts—it is not limited to reinstated corporations. Indeed, cases from other jurisdictions that have *rejected* ratification after the statute of

limitations expired illustrate the myriad contexts in which ratification arises.

For example, in both *Federal Elections Commission* and *Town of Nasewaupee*, the court rejected an attempt by a governmental actor to ratify an action after the limitations period ran. In *Federal Elections Commission*, the Solicitor General attempted to authorize a petition for certiorari filed by the Federal Election Commission after the 90-day deadline to file a petition had passed. 513 U.S. at 90, 98. As the Solicitor General "could not himself have filed a petition for certiorari" on the date of the attempted authorization "because the 90-day time period for filing a petition had [already] expired," the Court rejected the attempted "after-the-fact" authorization." *Id.* at 98–99.

In *Town of Nasewaupee*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court rejected a town board's attempt to ratify an action challenging an annexation when "[t]the ratification of the unauthorized commencement" of suit came after the limitations period expired. 251 N.W.2d at 846. The Court held that "the attempted

ratification was a nullity," because "the attempted ratification came after the time the right of action had been extinguished by the running of the sixty-day period of limitations." *Id.* at 848–49. "No action subsequent to the running of that period could deprive the defendants . . . of their right to defend on the ground that the action had not been timely brought." *Id.*

Courts have likewise rejected attempted ratification in the corporate context. For example, in *Benjamin*, the Third Circuit affirmed dismissal of a suit brought by the Virgin Islands Taxi Association ("VITA") and individual taxi drivers. 684 F. App'x 207. The court first concluded that the "committee" that instituted the suit did not have power to do so. *Id.* at 211. It then affirmed the district court's conclusion that an attempted ratification, which occurred *after* the statute of limitations for each of VITA's claims expired, "came too late to be effective."

Id. at 212⁶; see also Virgin Islands Taxi Ass'n, 2015 WL 5535237, at *4–5.

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