FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/15/2022 3:28 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101179-2

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 55811-4

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

SAWYER FALLS CO., L.L.C., a Washington limited liability company,

Respondent,

v.

CAPRI INVESTMENTS, L.L.C., a Washington limited liability company; RENAISSANCE UNITED LIMITED, a Singapore exchange-listed entity; and any other individual/entity claiming any right, title, lien or other interest in the real property described herein,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Stephen M. Hansen LAW OFFICE OF STEPHEN M. HANSEN, P.S 1821 Dock Street, Suite 103 Tacoma, WA 98402

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

IV. ARGUMENT

This Court accepts review of a decision of the Court of Appeals only under the limited circumstances delineated in RAP 13.4(b). Review is appropriate if a Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or another Court of Appeals or if "the petition involves an issue of

substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4). Neither circumstance is presented here.

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Regarding the Effect of Newton's Restatement is Consistent with Washington Law.

Capri's Petition (*see* pp. at 10 – 18) fails to present a single Washington case or statute concerning the impact of corporate reinstatement on the statute of limitations. There is good reason for this, as Capri's argument is premised upon cases where the unauthorized actions of an agent were later "ratified" following the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations. The Court of Appeals correctly recognized that this argument "erroneously conflate[d] the concepts of "relating back" and "ratification." 2022 WL 2125880, at *4.1

¹ Nor does Capri ever define "ratification," despite its heavy reliance on the word. In Washington, ratification "involves one party approving the unauthorized actions of another party." *Nichols Hills Bank v. McCool*, 104 Wn.2d 78, 84 – 85, 701 P.3d 1114 (1985); *see also Nw. Poultry & Dairy Prods. Co. v. A. C. Fry Co.*, 27 Wn.2d 35, 54, 176 P.2d 324 (1947).

Capri presented no case, let alone any Washington case, where a corporation was reinstated with language similar to the Washington or BVI statutes or even considered whether the effect of reinstatement resulted in some type of postreinstatement "ratification." The reason for this is that the Washington and BVI statutes treat the advent of striking from the Registry (under BVI law) and dissolution (under Washington law) as if they had never occurred. The legal effect of the restoration is specifically stated in §217(6) as follows: "Where a company is restored to the Register under this section, the company is deemed never to have been struck off the Register." Under Washington law via RCW 23.95.615, reinstatement "relates back to and takes effect as of the effective date of the administrative dissolution." (RCW 23.95.615(4)(a)) and "[t]he domestic entity resumes carrying on its activities and affairs as if the administrative dissolution had never occurred, ..." RCW 23.95.615(4)(b).

No "ratification" was required under BVI or Washington law as reinstatement of Newton's registration did not constitute a "ratification." Both Washington law and BVI law designate this event a "reinstatement," not a "ratification." This is because one cannot "ratify" that which (according to the BVI or Washington statutes) is deemed to have never occurred. The wording of the BVI statute provides that in the event of restoration to the Register, "the company is deemed never to have been struck off the Register."3 Under Washington law, reinstatement "relates back to and takes effect as of the effective date of the administrative dissolution." RCW 23.95.615(4)(a); see also Equipto Div. Aurora Equip. Co. v. *Yarmouth*, 134 Wn.2d 356, 365-366, 950 P.2d 451 (1998)

² RCW 23.95.615(4)(a); RCW 25.15.289 ("A limited liability company that has been administratively dissolved under RCW 23.95.610 may apply to the secretary of state for reinstatement in accordance with RCW 23.95.615."); BVI statute §217(6). ³ BVI statute at §217(6).

(reinstatement dates back to the date of dissolution as if the administrative dissolution had never occurred).

As the Court of Appeals correctly observed as to the Washington reinstatement statutes:

The purpose of these reinstatement provisions, which provide that the action of reinstatement "relates back" as if the administrative dissolution had never occurred, is to "create a seamless functional existence when the company wishes to continue doing business rather than closing up shop." *Pannell v. Shannon*, 425 S.W.3d 58, 74 (Ky. 2014). The reasoning behind permitting this seamless functional existence is that a "failure to pay franchise taxes is an issue solely between the [entity] and the State since the franchise tax statutes are for revenue[-]raising purposes alone." Frederic G. Krapf & Son, Inc. v. Gorson, 243 A.2d 713, 715 (Del. 1968); William A. Eastman & Co. v. Watson, 72 Wn. 522, 524-25, 130 P. 1144 (1913) (annual licensing fee statute " 'is a revenue measure, and the prohibition of suits or actions on the part of corporations without alleging and proving payment of the license fee is intended as a measure to enforce the collection of the tax'") (quoting North Star Trading Co. v. Alaska-Yukon-Pac. Exposition, 63 Wn. 376, 379, 115 P. 855 (1911), rev'd on other grounds by 69 Wn. 457, 123 P.2d 605 (1912)).

2022 WL 2125880, at *3. The Court of Appeals observed that "An entity's failure to pay fees has no effect on its ability to operate as an entity outside of its relationship with the state." *Id.*; (citing *Gorson*, (supra) 243 A.2d at 715).

In Washington, when reinstatement of a corporate entity occurs under RCW 23.95.615(4)(a), the reinstatement "relates back to and takes effect as of the effective date of the administrative dissolution." *See Equipto Div. Aurora Equip.*Co. v. Yarmouth, 134 Wn.2d 356, 365, 950 P.2d 451 (1998);

Tagliani v. Colwell, 10 Wn. App. 227, 232, 517 P.2d 207, 210 (1973); Karnes v. Flint, 153 Wash. 225, 233, 279 P. 728, 731 (1929).

The reinstatement works exactly the same for limited liability companies under Washington law: first, RCW 25.15.289 authorizes reinstatement for administratively dissolved limited liability companies by application "in accordance with RCW 23.95.615."

As to the rights of third parties, Washington law provides a mechanism for a board of directors or shareholders to ratify "defective corporate action." RCW 23B.30.030. When "ratified," the defective corporate action is "not void or voidable" and is "deemed to be a valid corporate action taken on the date of the defective corporate action." RCW 23B.30.060(1)(a) - (b). "Any corporate action taken subsequent to the date of the defective corporate action ratified or validated in accordance with [chapter 23B RCW] in reliance on that defective corporate action having been validly taken. . . is deemed to be valid as of the time that corporate action was taken." RCW 23B.30.060(3). The statutes make no distinction between internal corporate actions and those affecting the rights of third parties.

The Court of Appeals correctly recognized this here, citing to *Holpuch Co. v. United States*, 102 Ct. Cl. 795, 58 F.

Supp. 560 (Ct. Cl. 1945)⁴, it concluded that Newton's failure to pay its fees to the BVI registry did not prejudice Capri or otherwise impact its rights under the promissory note. 2022 WL 2125880, at *5.

There are good policy reasons behind the statutes authorizing reinstatement. The requirement of the payment of

[T]he defendant here [the United States] cannot complain; its rights were in nowise prejudiced thereby. Only the State levying the taxes is interested in the nonenforcement of contracts entered into without prior payment of them. The other contracting party is not injured thereby. If defendant has breached its contract with plaintiff, certainly it should not escape liability therefore because the corporation did not pay its taxes when due, where the State, in consideration of the payment of penalties, has forgiven the corporation therefor. *Id.* at 802

⁴ In *Holpuch*, the plaintiff construction company negotiated the contract with the United States at the time it was administratively dissolved. 102 Ct. Cl. at 799-800. When the company sued the United States for breach of the contract, the United States argued that the contract was null and void because it was negotiated and entered while the company was dissolved. *Id.* at 800. The court disagreed, holding that the subsequent corporate reinstatement of the company validated the "exercise of the corporate franchise," and explained:

an annual corporate licensing fee is "but a revenue measure." As other courts have observed, the penalty for non-payment of licensing fees "does not deny the claim [possessed by the corporation] itself." Reinstatement to good standing by payment of fees simply "restores the corporation's ability to sue and to defend in the courts of this state . . . [to] proceed on any viable claims that it has." Once the requirement of the payment of an annual corporate licensing fee ("a revenue measure") is met, there should be no reason why any additional penalty should be imposed on the corporation once delinquent fees have been paid. Such considerations are separate from the timely commencement of a suit.

B. Capri's Petition Presents No Significant Question of Law or Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

⁵ Roger Lee Const. Co. v. Toikka, 62 Wn. App. 87, 91, 813 P.2d 161 (1991) (quoting Nw. Motor Co. v. Braund, 89 Wash. 593, 154 P. 1098 (1916)).

⁶ See e.g., Williams v. Smith & Nephew, Inc., 2009 OK 36, 21, 212 P.3d 484 (2009).

⁷ Id.

Capri premises its claim of "broad implications" (pp. at 20-25) on the false narrative of there being an after-the-fact "ratification." No ratification happened here, as Newton had executed the amendment to SFC's operating agreement appointing Mr. Wong as one of SFC's managers two years prior to the July 22, 2020 deadline to commence suit for breach of the Promissory Note's "Fixed Amount" obligation. In contrast, the cases relied upon by Capri (cited for the first time in reply)⁸ involve agency law where the principal made "after the fact" attempts to ratify lawsuits commenced by the agent without first obtaining principal's authorization. Unlike this case, in those cases the principal's purported "ratification" did not occur until after the expiration of the applicable statute of limitation.

Federal Election Com'n v. NRA Political Victory Fund, 513 U.S. 88, 115 S.Ct. 537, 130 L.Ed.2d 439, 63 USLW 4027 (1994), involved a petition for Certiorari by the Federal

 $^{^{8}}$ SFC's Motion to strike the reply (CP 1644 - 1649) was denied. (VRP at 5).

Election Commission (FEC), which was made without the authorization of the United States Solicitor General until after the time for filing it had expired. 513 U.S. at 90. The question presented was whether the Solicitor General's May 26, 1994, letter authorizing the FEC's petition related back to the date of the FEC's unauthorized filing so as to make it timely. *Id.* at 91. The Supreme Court ruled that the subsequent authorization was ineffective because Congress had specifically conferred the sole authority in the Solicitor General under 26 U.S.C. §§ 9010(d), 9040(d). *Id.* at 96 - 97.

Miernicki v. Duluth Curling Club, 699 N.W.2d 787

(2005) involved a claim for injuries under a Minnesota Dram

Shop Act, (Minn. Stat. § 340A.802 (2002)), which required

notice of a potential dram-shop action within 240 days of

retaining counsel and also required commencement of suit

within two years of the injury. 699 N.W.2d at 788. The injured

party's brother retained an attorney without knowledge or

permission. On December 20, 2002, two days before the statute

of limitations expired, the attorney filed a complaint (without the injured party's knowledge/permission) in the name of the injured party and his three adult children. *Id*. Citing the *Restatement (Second) of Agency* § 90 (1958), the Court held that the subsequent ratification of the uncle's unauthorized retention of the attorney was ineffective. *Id*. at 789.

Town of Nasewaupee v. City of Sturgeon Bay, 77 Wis.

2d 110, 251 N.W.2d 845 (1977) was (again) decided on the same basis of principal-agent law as to the principal's retroactive ratification of the act of its agent. There, the town board attempted to ratify its actions after the time had been extinguished by the sixty-day period of limitations. 251 N.W.2d at 848. Here, the opposite is true, all actions were undertaken by SFC's members prior to the running of the statute of limitations. As such, they were timely, as under BVI law no member has been stricken. Other cases cited by Respondents were decided on the same principal-agent laws

where the principal had attempted to ratify an untimely act of the agent.

No case involved (as here) the restoration of an entity by operation of law where all actions were timely performed: the 2018 Amendment was executed two years prior to the 2020, Tolling Agreement. BVI law did not ratify Newton's actions after the fact but instead deemed those actions as lawful at the time they occurred, i.e., June 29, 2018. Once restored, under BVI law all actions taken are deemed to have occurred as if the company had never been stricken from the Register. This case does not involve ratification after the fact. BVI law "cured the claimed defect" as Newton has been deemed to have never been stricken. The same result occurs under RCW 23.95.615(4).

C. This Case Presents No Implications Concerning the Statute of Limitations.

Capri's contention that this case somehow permits a party to circumvent the statute of limitations is based upon the same false "ratification" narrative presented throughout its

petition. This is the same argument, as the Court of Appeals recognized, where Capri erroneously "conflate[d] the concepts of 'relating back' and ratification." WL 2125880, at *4.

SFC demonstrated its membership had authorized Mr.

Wong to act on its behalf a full two years ago prior to the execution of the tolling agreement. The Court of Appeals correctly recognized there was no "unauthorized act" to ratify the after the fact. Had there been, nothing would have prevented Capri from asserting the defense it incorrectly argues here. Nothing about this case raises any significant question of law or issue of substantial public interest.

V. CONCLUSION

As Capri has not satisfied any of the criteria for review by this Court, its Petition for Review should be denied.

The undersigned hereby certifies that this Reply consists of 4,984 words.